
 
CANFIELD CITY COUNCIL 

 
October 18, 2023-5:30 P.M. 

 
FRANCIS J. McLAUGHLIN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 
 
1. Call to Order. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Roll Call:  Quorum is Present - Meeting is in Session. 
 
4. Proclamations & Presentations. Steve Preston, MS Consultants, Inc.  
      
5. Approval of Minutes. 
 
6. Reading of Communications. 
 
7. Reports of Committees, Boards, Mayor’s Report, City Manager, Finance Director, Chief of Police, 

Zoning Inspector and Public Works Superintendent. 
 
8. Public questions from residents (or representative) related to the above referenced reports. Questions 

may be limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
9. Recognition of Persons Desiring to Appear Before Council. 
 
10.  OLD BUSINESS 
  Note: After each item is placed on the table for action, public comments from residents (or 

representative) as to that business item are received.  May be limited to three (3) minutes per person 
and thirty (30) minutes total. 

 
11. NEW BUSINESS 

Note: After each item is placed on the table for action, public comments from residents (or 
representative) as to that business item are received.  May be limited to three (3) minutes per person 
and thirty (30) minutes total. 

 
A. An Ordinance Approving the Replat of Canfield City Lot 6902, Creating City Lot 6908 

on Lake Wobegon Drive by Stonebridge Land Corp.  

 

Description: Stonebridge Land Corp is replatting Lot 6902 to create Lot 6908 because 

they sold a lot to build a new home.   

 

Action Needed: Passage of this Ordinance  

 

Attachment(s): Recommendation from P&Z, Map, closure, Letter from MS.  

 

B. An Ordinance Approving the Replat Combining Lots 105 & 106, Creating City Lot 

6909 at 33 Kirk Street by Jim Morocco.  

 

Description: The homeowner at 33 Kirk wishes to replat his property. The back portion 

of his lot at 33 Kirk Street is a separate parcel.  He would like to put a fence in the rear 

yard. Since you can’t have a fence on a piece of property without a main structure, he 

would like to replat it into one parcel.  

 

Action Needed: Approval of Ordinance.  

 

Attachment(s): Recommendation from P&Z, Map, Closure, Letter from MS 

Consultants. 

 



C. An Ordinance Amending Canfield Codified Ordinance Section 1141.11 R/O 

Residential Office District and Re-Titling Such Zoning Districts as Residential Office 

and Limited Commercial District.  

 

Description: We are amending R/O Office District, to expand the use, in that district.   

 

Action Needed: 1st reading and set a public hearing for November 15, 2023 @ 5:20 PM 

 

Attachment(s):  Recommendation from P&Z. 

 

D. An Ordinance Authorizing Contract Modification Number 2 with MS Consultants, Inc. 

for the Sawmill Creek Improvement Project.  

 

Description: This modification is for construction administration and resident 

inspection which was not included in the original agreement.  

 

Action Needed: Passage of Ordinance 

 

Attachment(s):  Modification #2 to Engineering Agreement. 

 

E. An Ordinance Authorizing Change Order Number 1 for Lindy Paving, Inc and to 

Declare Said Ordinance an Emergency. (2023 Road Resurfacing Project)  

 

Description:  There is a 20ft x 130ft area on Colonial Drive that needs repair.  

 

Action Needed:  Passage of this Ordinance.  

 

Attachment(s):  Ordinance and the Change Order.   

 

F. A Motion Authorizing the City Manager to Enter Into An Agreement on Behalf of the 

City of Canfield with the Canfield Board of Education Regarding the Allocation of 

Costs Related to the Provision of a School Resource Officer.  

 

Description: See Chief.   

 

Action Needed: Passage of Motion 

 

Attachment(s):  Motion and School Resource Officer Agreement-Exhibit 1.  

 

12. Council Comments.  

 

13. Adjournment 



Introduced by: _______________ 
First Reading: ________________ 

ORDINANCE 

An Ordinance Approving the Replat of 
Canfield City Lot 6902 

 Creating City Lot 6908 on Lake Wobegon Drive 
By Stonebridge Land Corp. 

WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission at their Regular Meeting on October 
12, 2023 approved the replat of Canfield City lot 6902 Creating City Lot 6908 on Lake 
Wobegon Drive.  

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends to Council the approval 
of the replat of Canfield City lot 6902 Creating City Lot 6908 on Lake Wobegon Drive.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, 
MAHONING COUNTY, OHIO: 

Section 1:  The Council of the City of Canfield approves the replat of Canfield City lot 
6902 Creating City Lot 6908.  

Section 2:  That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this 
Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the 
Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield. 

PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS _______________DAY OF ______________A.D., 2023. 

___________________ 
PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 

ATTEST: 

___________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Certification of Publication 

I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, 
Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: 
_______________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 











Introduced by: _______________ 
First Reading: ________________ 

ORDINANCE 

An Ordinance Approving the Replat Combining Lots 105 & 106, 
Creating City Lot 6909 at 33 Kirk Street by Jim Morocco 

WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission at their Regular Meeting on October 
12, 2023 approved the replat combining lots 105 & 106, creating lot 6909 at 33 Kirk Street.  

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends to Council the approval 
of the replat combining lots 105 & 106, creating lot 6909 at 33 Kirk Street.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, 
MAHONING COUNTY, OHIO: 

Section 1:  The Council of the City of Canfield approves the replat combining lots 105 
& 106, creating lot 6909 at 33 Kirk Street.  

Section 2:  That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this 
Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the 
Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield. 

PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS _______________DAY OF ______________A.D., 2023. 

___________________ 
PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 

ATTEST: 

___________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Certification of Publication 

I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, 
Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: 
_______________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

___________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 









Introduced by: _____________ 
First Reading: ______________ 
 

ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CANFIELD CODIFIED ORDINANCE SECTION 1141.11 
R/O RESIDENTIAL OFFICE DISTRICT AND RE-TITLING SUCH ZONING DISTRICTS AS 

RESIDENTIAL OFFICE AND LIMITED COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended changes to Section 
1141.11 of the Codified Ordinances of the City of expand the allowable uses in R/O 
Residential Office Zoning District and to retitle the District as “Residential/Office and Limited 
Commercial District”; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield believe it to be in the best interests of the 
citizens of the City to amend Ordinance Section 1141.11 as described below. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, 
MAHONING COUNTY, OHIO: 
 
 Section 1:  That the following uses shall be permitted uses pursuant to Section 
1141.11 of the Ordinances of the City: 
 

1. Residential Dwelling Units-single and multi-family not to exceed six dwelling units 
per structure. 

2. Professional Office(s) 
3. Fraternal Lodges and Private Clubs 
4. Funeral Homes and Mortuaries 
5. Bed and Breakfast businesses 
6. Artisan studies such as photography and art galleries 
7. Banks or other financial institutions without drive thru facilities. 
8. Cafes, bars and restaurants without drive thru facilities. 
9. Medical clinics and related facilities 
10. Retail stores 
11. Personal service establishments 

 
Note1: No permitted use permitted above shall occupy more than 4,000 square feet. 
Note 2: The uses delineated in 5-11 above shall only be permitted on lots in excess of three 
(3) acres. 
 
 Section 2: That Section 1141.11 and related sections of the Ordinances of the City 
shall be re-titled “RESIDENTIAL, OFFICE AND LIMITED COMMERCIAL DISTRICT”. 
 
 Section 3: That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this 
Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the 
Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield.  
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS_____________DAY OF__________________2023. 
 
      _________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 
 
 



ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 
    Certification of Publication 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, 
Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: ________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________. 
 
       _____________________ 
       CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 



Introduced by: ________________ 
First Reading: _________________ 
 

ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING CONTRACT MODIFICATION NUMBER 2 WITH 
MS CONSULTANTS, INC FOR THE SAWMILL CREEK IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

 
 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield authorized the City Manager to enter into a 
contract with MS Consultants, Inc. on March 3, 2021 for the Sawmill Creek Improvement Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager and City Engineer recommends a Contract Modification Number 
2, pursuant to section 1 and 4 of the contract for the construction administration and inspection of 
the construction improvements.  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager has applied for funding through the Ohio Water Development 
Agency to cover all costs associated with Contract Modification Number 2. 
 
 WHEREAS, Council desires to authorize Contract Modifications Number 2 for the City of 
Canfield, Sawmill Creek Improvement Project; contingent upon receiving appropriate funding. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 
 

 Section 1:  Contract Modification Number 2 is hereby authorized in an amount of 
$121,431.00 pursuant to the description and scope of work attached and contingent upon receiving 
appropriate funding.   
 
 Section 2: That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this Ordinance 
were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code 
and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield.  
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS ________________DAY OF ________________________A.D. 2023. 
 
 
      _____________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 

Certification of Publication 
 

I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that the foregoing 
Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, Ohio for seven 
continuous days, to-wit: _____________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________. 
 
       _______________ 
       CLERK OF COUNCIL  
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 
 

















Introduced By: __________________ 
First Reading: __________________ 

ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING CHANGE 
 ORDER NUMBER 1 FOR LINDY PAVING, INC 

AND TO DECLARE SAID ORDINANCE 
 AN EMERGENCY. 

(2023 ROAD RESURFACING PROJECT) 

WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield authorized the City 
Manager to enter into a contract with Lindy Paving, Inc. (Ordinance # 2023-27) on 
July 12, 2023 in an amount not to exceed Three-Hundred Ninety-Five Thousand
Nine-Hundred Eighty-Two and 50/100) based on a public bid; and 

WHEREAS, the Engineer recommends a Change Order pursuant to 
Section II of the Contract; and 

WHEREAS, Council desires to authorize Change Order 1 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 

Section 1:  Change Order 1 hereby authorizes an addition to the 
original contract amount, in an amount of ($27,455.00) to repair a 20ft X 130ft area 
on Colonial Drive    

Section 2:  This Ordinance is hereby declared to be an emergency 
measure necessary for the preservation of public peace, health and safety of the 
inhabitants of the City of Canfield, Ohio.  Said emergency exists by reason of the fact 
that it is necessary to authorize said work immediately, in order to meet invoice due 
date obligations and to coincide with the timing of the paving project. 

Section 3:  That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the 
passage of this Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to 
Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the 
Municipality of Canfield. 

PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS _______ DAY OF ____________________ A.D., 2023. 

___________________________ 
PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 

ATTEST: 

_____________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Certification of Publication 

I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby 
certify that the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal 
Building, Canfield, Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: 
__________________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________. 



       ____________________ 
       CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 
 

 

 

 









 
Introduced by: _________________    Motion No: _______ 

 
 

A MOTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT   

ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD 
WITH THE CANFIELD BOARD OF EDUCATION  

REGARDING THE ALLOCATION OF COSTS RELATED TO 
THE PROVISION OF A SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield desires to enter into an 
Agreement with the Canfield Board of Education and regarding the allocation of 
costs related to providing a School Resource Officer to the Canfield Board of 
Education; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Canfield, and the Canfield Board of Education 
have negotiated the terms of an agreement allocating the costs of providing a 
School Resource Officer through school year 2023-2025. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MOVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CANFIELD, OHIO: 
 
 Section 1.  That the City of Canfield shall enter into an agreement with 
the Canfield Board of Education in the form attached to this Motion and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit 1. 
 
 Section 2.   That the City Manager of the City of Canfield is hereby 
authorized and directed to enter into the Agreement. 
 
 Section 3: That this Motion and all deliberation relating to the passage of 
this Motion were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 
121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the 
Municipality of Canfield. 
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS _______ day of ___________________, 2023. 
 
           
     ________________________________ 
      CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
 

Certification of Publication 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby 
certify that the foregoing Motion was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal 
Building, Canfield, Ohio for seven continuous days, to wit: 
_________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________. 
 



 
           
           
     ._________________________________. 
      CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
 
 

APPROVED TO FORM: 
 

_____________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 
 



SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER AGREEMENT 

This Agreement 18 made and entered Into this 13..day of_September ___ .2023, 

by and between the Canfield Board of Education, on behalf of the Canfleld Local School 

District, 100 Wedsworth St., cenlleld, Ohio 44406 ("Board" or "Dlatrlcl"), and the City of 

Canfleld, 104 Lisbon Street, Canlleld, Ohio, 44406 ("C8nfleld" or 'City"), In consideration of 

proml686 and covenants contained herein and the parties agree as follows: 

WHEREAS, the Board operates a pubUc achool system within C&nfleld's boundaries and 

Jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, the parties to Ihle Agreement desire to provide programs and aervlcea to 

lntelVene and prevent at-risk chUdren from becoming Involved in the Juvenile jusUce system 

and/or to support those who may already be involved; and 

WHEREAS, the School Reeource Offlcer ("SRO") Program offers a unique opportunity 

for Canfield'& law enforcement and the Board to work collaboratively to enhance the safety and 

security of the educalionel environment; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to memoriellze their shared understanding of the SRO 

Program acknowledging that while every contingency cannot be predicted with certainty, an 

Agreement should be entered Into that delineates what la expected of each party during the 

performance of the Agreement and In certain circumstances. 

NOW, THEREFORE, It Is agreed by and between the parties, as follows: 

1. General Scope, Canfield agrees to provide two (2) police officers to serve aa

SROs at Canfield High School and Canfield Middle School as provided herein,

The SRO shall perform any and all d utles required to assist Iha school In l88ues

of safety, education, and any other matters as mutually agreed upon by the City

and the Board. The parties acknowledge that the officer assigned as the SRO ls

an employee of the City of Canfield and not an employee of the Canfield Board of

Exhibit 1

















1 
 

MINUTES 
CANFIELD CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 4, 2023 -5:30 P.M. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by John Morvay, President of Council, followed by the 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Clerk called the roll to which a quorum responded as follows:  Mr. 
Dragish, Mr. Morvay, Mr. Nacarato, Mr. Neff and Mr. Tieche.  
 
Staff present: Charles Colucci, Chief of Police and Acting City Manager; Christine Stack-Clayton, 
Finance Director; Mike Cook, Zoning Inspector; and John Rapp, Public Works Superintendent.  
 
  Under PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS, there were none.  
 
  Under APPROVAL OF MINUTES, the Minutes of the Regular Meeting on 
September 20, 2023 and the Special Meeting on September 25, 2023 were approved as 
presented.   
 
  Under READING OF COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
MR. TIECHE: I have none.  
 
MR. NEFF: I have none. 
 
MR. DRAGISH: I have none.  
 
MR. NACARATO: I have none.  
 
MR. MORVAY: The only communications I have Chief, was somebody commented on the lights 
on North Broad continuing. They were asking if they were going to be continued out to the 
Turnpike.  I just told them, there were no plans but maybe keep an eye out for a grant or 
whatever.   
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: There actually has been discussion about what we can do to remedy that on 
West Main.  It’s going to be expensive. It will be a budget item and/or grant.  It is being 
considered.  
 
MR. MORVAY: It would look nice.  We got a tremendous amount of people that walk, I see 
them coming down 46 from the developments in the township. They come down and they 
walk. It would be nice to have that lit-up.   
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: There is a plan.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Okay.  That’s all the communications that I had.  I’ll go to Chief.  



2 
 

 
CHIEF OF POLICE:  280 Lisbon Street was taken down last week by the Mahoning County Land 
Bank.  John might be able to fill you in, I don’t know if it’s important to talk about it or not.  
There were some minor issues. We had a water break as a result.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  The contractor that demolished the house didn’t get 
permission to hook onto the hydrant. He hooked the two-and-a-half-inch hose and put it across 
the street. Traffic ran over it. It was hammering. The result was a water break in front of the 
house.  We’re going to take the necessary steps to make sure that our time after hours is, 
hopefully taken care of.  I wish they would have just asked if they could have used water. We 
could have shut down the road and let them run it across and not have the issue. But instead, 
we were there until 7:00 P.M.  It split a pipe about that big.   
 
MR. TIECHE: They could have run it around the corner off of Edwards Street and it would not 
have been out there.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT: They just took it upon themselves to just hook up; which is 
also theft of service.  We’re going to talk about that.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Okay.  
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: Greasel Park update:  It’s been paved. The new fence that we approved this 
summer, finally came in and finally got up.  We didn’t get much notice but nonetheless. We 
didn’t get any notice.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  In fact, that day, we’re here.  I’m like wait a minute.   
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: We reached out to our contacts with the Pickleball group and we shut the 
park down for a little while. We got it paved.  John has since working together with a few of the 
members of the Pickleball Community, it was decided to cut in a sidewalk from the courts to 
the existing sidewalk. We talked about it going to the parking lot originally. Then John had the 
idea of just extending it to the restrooms, direct and then the sidewalk from the Greasel Park 
Pavilion right to the parking lot.  It was a great idea.  Your crew did a good job on that.  It’s 
graveled in and hopefully next year we’ll be able to concrete it.  You used your mini excavator? 
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT: We did.  It worked really good.  
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: I’m jealous.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  Stop out. We’ll find you a job.   
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: So, Greasel Park is in good shape.  The trees are down that we had to cut 
down.  It’s getting close to the end of the season, so we’ll be closing it. In the spring it will be 



3 
 

ready to go. We’ll have everything done that we planned on doing.  That’s it for 
communications.   
 
  Under REPORTS, of Committees, Boards, Mayor’s Report, City Manager, Finance 
Director, Chief of Police, Zoning Inspector and Public Works Superintendent.  
 
MR. TIECHE:  Members of Council, have they received a copy of the Parks Board Minutes? 
 
CLERK: Yes.  
 
MR. TIECHE:  If you read over that and have any questions, feel free to make an inquiry.  That 
would conclude my report.  
 
MR. NEFF:  Planning & Zoning did not have a meeting, so there is no report.  
 
MR. DRAGISH:  I have no report.  
 
MR. NACARATO:  Design and Review met last evening.  We just had 4 things on our agenda and 
they all passed.   
 
MR. MORVAY: I represent the Fire District.  In September we had 329 total calls. Some of those 
were Fair calls because they were at the end of the month. We did have a fire on Leffingwell. It 
was a fire alarm alert. Nobody was home.  I think the damages were only around $750.00 or so.  
Not that big of a loss.  We had 123 ambulance transports, in the month of September.   
 
MR. NEFF: How many? 
 
MR. MORVAY: 123.  That concludes my report. I’ll move over to John Rapp, our Public Works 
Superintendent.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  Good evening. The storage tank on Fairground is complete.  
We’re using it for about a week and a half now.  Everything came back good. Testing was 
beautiful.  Inside, outside, redid the parking lot, even.  We put together an SOP for future 
employees on how to take it in and out of service. The bypass that we installed actually makes 
it a lot easier.  We were able to use that bypass, even during the Fair. We know now, that it 
works for us.  Mainly that thing is just storage for our pumps and fire flow.  It serves a purpose 
but we can operate without it.   
 
The guys started hydrant flushing Tuesday. They’ll be on that for about 3 to 4 weeks.  You’ll see 
them out there. There is a possibility of some discoloration and air in the lines. Just be aware of 
it.  Any wet spots on the road. They may not be a water break, there could be some puddling 
somewhere.   
 



4 
 

We did have 3 breaks; Thursday and then two on Friday.  We were able to get those secured. 
The one on Hilltop and 46 is broke in underneath St. Rt. 46, so we have it platted.  We have it 
shut down on both sides of the road and we’re going to schedule the appropriate time, 
hopefully when the buses aren’t running.  There is a lot of traffic that runs through Hilltop.  
Nobody is out of water. Everybody is good.  We’re going to try to plan this accordingly.   
 
The North Broad lighting that we’re talking about, that did get fixed. It happened to be panels 
with connections that needed to be redone. They just had to order parts. As soon as that 
contractor was out, he was able to get the parts and get those lights back up.   
 
Just a reminder on October 16th, we will start the leaf pick-up.  That’s it.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thanks John. Our Finance Director, Mrs. Christine Clayton.  
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Our 2022 Audit was released last week by the State. We received 4 Stars 
out of 4 for the open and transparent government public records, again this year.   
 
I’m waiting for a revised agreement from RCAP, they are going to do a water rate study for us.  I 
sent them the changes that Mark and I wanted. They said, they’re going to revise the contract 
and get it back to me.   
 
We started the General Ledger set-up for the new accounting software. Next week we’re going 
to start doing configuration for payroll. We’re hoping to do a conversion effective January 1st, 
for everything except utilities; which is going to be April 1st.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Great. Frank, did you hear about our transparency-4 out of 4 Stars?  Good.   
Our Zoning Inspector, Mr. Cook.  
 
ZONING INSPECTOR:  For the month of September, we issued 47 permits for a total valuation of 
$11,152,691.00.  Planning & Zoning, next week, you have two replats coming the following 
week. One is on Lake Wobegon and the other is on Kirk Street. We have an R/O Ordinance that 
we’re starting in Planning & Zoning next week.  That’s all.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you.  Our City Clerk, Patty Bernat. 
 
CLERK:  A couple of announcements. The Civil Service Commission will be testing for I.T. Tech 
on November 15th.  The Odd Fellows, IOOF, will be putting on truck or treat on October 28th 
from 12-5.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you. Our Acting City Manager, Chief of Police, Mr. Chuck Colucci. 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE:  Since our last meeting, we had Family Fun Night.  It was 2 Thursdays ago.  
Family Fun Night was an incredible night. Shelly and planned on stopping, get something to eat 
and leave but we were there until well past close, talking to everybody.  It was well-attended.  



5 
 

Alcohol was served. There were no issues.  The attendance was what impressed me the most. 
There were so many families there and kids there and the food vendors. It was so well-received.  
That’s just the goal, to keep aiming in that direction, expose all of our culture that we have in 
this great community that we live and work in. It was just an overwhelming good night.  
Everybody was happy. It’s what people want on the Green.  We’re going to aim in that 
direction, for the foreseeable future, I hope.   
 
Police Training: In September our officers participated in active shooter training.  We did it this 
year at the Mahoning County Career & Technical Center.  We rotate schools every year. 
October, this month, we will be doing night shooting at our outdoor range; which is in Goshen 
Township.  The highlights of that training is officers are always required to qualify with their 
weapons. They’re always on a range or indoor range shooting.  They extended this to do night 
shooting, with our cruisers there, with the lights on.  It simulates night time scenarios, night 
time situations.   
 
This is fresh as fresh can be. I was training all day today but I was keeping on our CAD System. I 
saw that we had a choking victim at Hilltop Elementary School.  It indicated that one of our 
SRO’s did the Heimlich.  When I got back, I went and talked to the officer and it wasn’t our SRO 
that did it, it was Principal Mike Flood.  He saved somebody’s life today.  He should be 
commended. I haven’t had a chance to reach out to Superintendent Knoll.   From a community 
standpoint, our Principal Mike Flood, saved a co-workers life today.  We’re super proud of him.  
He’s a humble guy. He’s not going to want that recognition.  If it were one of the officers, they’d 
get a lifesaving award.  We’ll try and do something to honor him.  He was right there will Officer 
Zmuda who was at the school at the time.   
 
From a City Manager Report:  MS Consultants, Steve Preston, specifically, reported to us this 
week that the Overbrook Project is going to come in under budget; which is great.  We 
appreciate MS’s oversight and their work.  Again, time will tell.  As far as we can tell right now, 
that project was a big success and greatly needed.   
 
Last meeting, we discussed Sawmill Creek.  It was brought up by my friend, Frank about 
underground retention.  Maybe he’ll talk about it in comments, maybe not.  Frank was invited 
and we sat down together with MS, we went over it.  It’s more than just underground 
retention. It’s everything going on around the underground retention. It’s the bigger pipes that 
are getting put in. It’s the overall plan. I won’t speak for him but I’m confident that he left 
feeling better than when he arrived.  That’s just my respect for you Frank.  Thank you for your 
concern, your questions and it actually helped me understand the project a little better by 
sitting in on that meeting.   
 
Parks and Recreation: The minutes are out already. Who does them? 
 
CLERK: Lex.  
 



6 
 

CHIEF OF POLICE:  Efficiency. It was yesterday. We had a good meeting.  In Parks and 
Recreation, we’re going to be looking at what Rules and Regulations we have in our City 
Ordinances, it’s time to take a look and see what’s there and applicable on Parks and Rec and 
other boards and create potentially new rules.  I’ll be working on that with Parks & Rec. We 
were able to get a lot accomplished in the meeting yesterday. We had a resident that wanted 
to start a committee. That person was invited, came to the meeting, It was a really good 
meeting. It was a positive productive meeting.  That’s it.  
 
MR. MORVAY: That’s good. Our City Attorney, Mr. Fortunato.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO:  I’m continuing to work on various ordinances as they come through the 
pipeline. We beat them up at staff meetings and get them to Planning.  As Mike mentioned, 
R/O Ordinance is going to Planning and one after that. All SRO Agreements are finalized, right 
Chief? We adopted our independent SRO Agreement for the elementary schools. The Township 
and the City have agreement on the terms of our new SRO Agreement with the school system. 
The Township will be approving that. After they pass it. It will be on your agenda.  Although, 
everybody is functioning as though those agreements have been signed.   
 
Mr. & Mrs. MacBenn, I sent a letter, it came back, I sent it to another address and it came back 
again. It was sent to both addresses and these letters keep coming back from Mr. Theofilos’ 
office.  I’m writing to tell him that council has decided they are not going to extend 
extraterritorial water, in this instance. I communicated that in writing to Atty. Theofilos but I 
have not been able to get a letter to him. They keep coming back.  If you want to get Patty a 
good address for him, I’d be happy to resend that letter.  I know you come every week and I 
sent that letter a few weeks ago.  I don’t know if he got one and others got returned. I don’t 
know if you spoke with him   I wanted to make you aware that I had done what I said, I sent 
correspondence. That’s it for my report.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you.   Chief, I just wanted to comment on Family Night.  I had the boys 
there. I paid attention to how our officers interacted with everyone there-and they did.  They 
didn’t stand off, they didn’t hold themselves away from the community.  They were a part of 
the community that night.  I seen them walking around talking to people, interacting.  For that 
reason, that’s what we need to have.  That interaction.  It’s good that we trust each other.  You 
know what I mean.  It’s not an adversarial relationship.  It’s our community and that’s what 
they betrayed. You can pass that on to the guys.  
 
CHIEF COLUCCI: You made me smile because when we first started doing these years ago, 
standing back and watching the kids and then having a group of officers over here.  They’ve 
come a long way.   
 
MR. MORVAY: It was totally opposite. I watched them walk around and talk to different people.  
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: Thank you.  I’ll extend that.  
 



7 
 

MR. MORVAY: Council any questions for these reports that we’ve just heard?   
 
MR. TIECHE: Kirk Street, replat.  What lots on Kirk Street are getting replatted?   
 
ZONING INSPECTOR: 33 Kirk.  He has a small lot in the backyard. He wanted to put a fence on it. 
I had two options for him. Get an adjustment for $300.00 or a replat.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Is that a separate lot? 
 
ZONING INSPECTOR:  Yes.   
 
MR. TIECHE:  It’s a separate lot that doesn’t have frontage?   
 
ZONING INSPECTOR: No, he’s going to replat it into one lot.  
 
MR. TIECHE: It is currently a separate lot without frontage. 
 
ZONING INSPECTOR: Right. Behind 3 or 4 of those houses, there is a small lot back there.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Okay, thank you.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Residents any questions?   
 
MR. MICCHIA:  Good evening. Frank Micchia, 220 Glenview. In regard to the water retention 
system, as Chief mentioned, I did take a look at the plans and they were kind enough to go over 
it with me. I think the better part of it, is the upgrading of the storm drains. I don’t know what 
the impact will be downstream but moving the water more efficiently, is a good idea.  The 
underground storage system, it will gather water from a small portion of the area, around the 
high school.  Whether that justifies an underground system that big 200 ft.by 200 ft., I don’t 
know. The engineers are taking a look at it.  I’m surprised that the school system agreed to 
allow that to be done 200 ft. x 200 ft, on their property, that precludes any building on that 
land.  It can be a parking lot on top of it but not a building.  That land is being sacrificed. I think 
that’s crucial land to sacrifice but apparently they’ve agreed to it.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you, Frank.  
 
LEX CALDER: Lex Calder, 145 Willow Bend.  The new billing. Does that mean we’re going to go 
to monthly for water utilities?   
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR: I don’t know if we’re going to get to monthly, right away.  We haven’t 
started digging into the utility side.  But yes.   
 
LEX CALDER:  What did the township contribute to the SRO? Before it was just going to be 
between the city, it was a special agreement. Did the township agree to contribute?   



8 
 

CHIEF OF POLICE: There are two separate agreements. The ongoing one that we had for the last 
several years, they agreed to continue to pay us a fixed fee of $35,000.  They’re about to.  I’m in 
negotiations with them right now, attempting to get them to assist us in paying for the school 
resource officer/security officer at the elementary schools.  
 
LEX CALDER:  It’s separate from that one. The outdoor range that you have in Goshen, is that 
police only or is that public? 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: Police only.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thanks Lex.  
 
DENNY WINGARD: Denny Wingard, 284 Jade Circle.  I want to take this opportunity on behalf of 
the Pickleball players to thank, first of all, Chuck for working with us, since about December of 
last year when they mentioned we got 4 benches and some other things that were on a wish 
list.  I want to remind him Christmas is a short way off.  We’re headed for a very fine Pickleball 
facility that will be eventually 6 individual courts. You don’t find that in too many places, where 
they’ll be sectioned off with netting, so the ball stays within that court. That’s an ideal situation.  
Prior to that we had no net and balls were traveling all over.  Somebody would say, ball. All the 
games would stop. If you back up, there is a chance you’d fall on it.  We had one guy that did 
that and broke his ankle.  This was about 2 years ago.  I want to thank Chuck. I want to thank 
Christine for finding the money.  With regard to that lighting situation, something I addressed 
with our city manager, probably about 6 months ago, my feeling and I’ve talked with a few 
others that had the same feeling, when I come down from my development from Cocca’s and 
come down the hill, to me, 46 looks like a runway, an airport runway. It looks too commercial, 
in my mind and the minds of others. The lights are so close together. I started to think about it. 
The same thing along 224.  If we take out every other light, but you have to watch how they fall, 
and cap those, we’ll have plenty of lights to extend up to the turnpike and plenty of lights to go 
on the west end.  That infrastructure needs to develop through grants and so on.  We need 
curbing out there and sidewalks and so on.  A nice presentation when people come in from the 
west.  We know it’s a heavy traffic zone.  Like Youngstown, Youngstown is trying to beautify 
Market Street coming downtown down to Mahoning Avenue. This is a busy thoroughfare.  The 
first expose of some people coming into Canfield is that end. It’s not as presentable as we’d like 
it to be.  The lighting came in with that. We talked about, he had a drawing about 6 months 
ago. Not to take away from whoever thought of that plan.  It was a good idea. Thank you.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you, Denny.  Anybody else? 
 
DARLENE MACBENN:  Darlene Macbenn and husband Joseph. Atty. Fortunato, our Atty is Ted 
Thornton of Manchester, Powers and Bennett at 201 E. Commerce Street.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Okay.  That changed then. Gus Theofilos was your Atty, correct? 
 
DARLENE MACBENN: Gus Theofilos is my personal Attorney.  



9 
 

 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: But he’s the one we corresponded with and communicated with.  
 
DARLENE MACBENN: For this particular case, we’re going through Manchester, Powers and 
Bennett.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Okay.  I know Ted Thornton. I know his address.   
 
DARLENE MACBENN: You know the phone number?   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: I know Ted.  All good. I’ll send him a copy of my letter.  
 
DARLENE MACBENN:  We’ve been coming in here since February asking for water and sewer. I 
cannot develop my property. My property needs to be developed. I cannot do it without water 
and sewer.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: The city is not under an obligation to provide that to you, outside of the city 
limits. That’s what my letter says. I’ll forward that to Ted.  
 
DARLENE MACBENN: I appreciate your kind attendance.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you, Mrs. Macbenn. Anybody else? 
 
  Under RECOGNITION OF PERSONS DESIRING TO APPEAR BEFORE COUNCIL:   
 
MR. MICCHIA:  Good evening, once again, Frank Micchia, 220 Glenview. The other day, I 
happened to see our Illustrious Zoning Inspector adding to his collection of lawn signs, per the 
Ordinance; which is very good.  There is still a lot of opportunity. There are a bunch of them out 
there.  Hopefully, we’ll take care of that.  I had a personal experience on lawn signs on my 
various efforts.  They weren’t outside the ordinance, they just plain disappeared. I guess some 
unscruple persons wanted them for their personal collection.  Anyway, that’s the past. Just 
closing from a quote from Will Rogers, if I may. “Some people try to turn back their odometers. 
Not me, I want people to know “why” I look this way.  I’ve traveled a long way and some of the 
roads weren’t paved.”  Thank you.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you, Frank.  Is there anybody else that needs to appear before council this 
evening? Hearing none.   
 
  Under OLD BUSINESS, there is none.  
 
  Under NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM A:  An Ordinance Creating the Federal OVI Task Force Grant Fund FY2024. 
 



10 
 

MR. MORVAY: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. NACARATO: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. MORVAY: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. DRAGISH: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. TIECHE:  Mr. President, I have an Ordinance Creating the Federal OVI Task Force Grant 
Fund FY2024. I move for passage.   
 
MR. NEFF: Second.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Chief, could you just brief us on this. 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE:  The Canfield Police Department has been awarded the Federal OVI Task 
Force Grant administered by the State of Ohio FY2024. The amount of this grant is for 
$250,000. The funds are appropriated in our Fiscal Year 2023 because the grant funding 
schedule is October 1st through September 30th.  In order to account for this grant award 
(revenue) and the associated expenses related to the grant, the City must create a separate 
fund to segregate the revenue and expenses from our normal city operations.   
 
MR. MORVAY: It’s a standard procedure that we do.  Council questions?  Hearing none. 
Residents questions? Hearing none.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Ordinance passes  
         Ordinance 2023-38. 
 



11 
 

ITEM B:  An Ordinance Amending Ordinance 2023-28, Annual Appropriation Ordinance to make 
Appropriations for Current Expenses and Other Expenditures of the City of Canfield, State of 
Ohio, During the Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2023. 
 
MR. MORVAY: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. MORVAY: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes.  
 
MR. NEFF: Mr. Chairman, I have an Ordinance Amending Ordinance 2023-28, Annual 
Appropriation Ordinance to make Appropriations for Current Expenses and Other Expenditures 
of the City of Canfield, State of Ohio, During the Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2023. We 
move for passage.  
 
MR. NACARATO: Second.  
 
MR. MORVAY: I think I’ll just ask Christine. Why are we amending this ordinance?  
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR:  So, I can give them money to spend now.  That’s the only change I made 
to the budget at this time is just $250,000 for the grant award.   
 
MR. MORVAY: Thank you. Council questions? Hearing none. Residents questions? Hearing 
none.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Ordinance passes  
         Ordinance 2023-39. 
 



12 
 

ITEM C: A Motion ratifying A Contract Between the City of Canfield and the Ohio Patrolmen’s 
Benevolent Association (Police Officers, Unit A; Dispatchers, Unit B; Lieutenants and Sergeants, 
Unit C) for Years 2024, 2025, and 2026. 
 
MR. MORVAY: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of a full reading of the proposed Motion and 
authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. NEFF: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. DRAGISH:  I have a Motion ratifying A Contract Between the City of Canfield and the Ohio 
Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association (Police Officers, Unit A; Dispatchers, Unit B; Lieutenants 
and Sergeants, Unit C) for Years 2024, 2025, and 2026. I move for passage. 
 
MR NACARATO: Second.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Chief, do you want to comment? 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE:  Sure.  City Management representatives were working together with OPBA 
on this collective bargaining agreement for 2024, 2025 & 2026. The current agreement will 
expire at the end of 2023.  We’ve been working together since June.  Negotiations went very 
smooth.  The contract is now in front of you, for your vote. It went as described and as 
documented.  
 
MR. MORVAY: And you’ve checked with our Finance Director, we will have the funds to fund 
this new contract? 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE:  Yes.  The total cost is $418,122.00. I have a feeling that will come up.  I 
wanted to make sure that we address it. That is what the increase will cost the City over the 
next 3 years.   
 
MR. MORVAY: We certainly have a great group of guys.  I think we have one of the best 
departments, bar none.  I don’t think they’re asking for anything outlandish.   
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: The biggest part of it that we discussed is the current climate for police and 
dispatchers is a demand to retain these officers. Local departments are offering $10,000 signing 
bonuses, $3,000 signing bonuses, $6,000 signing bonuses, increase in wages, drop, pay range. 
All for retention. Officers are leaving the area.  Officers are leaving local departments.  We are 
very interested in protecting our investment in our people.   
 



13 
 

MR. MORVAY: Our officers are okay with this? 
 
CHIEF OF POLICE: They voted Monday.  It was unanimously accepted.  
 
MR. MORVAY: Good. Sounds like a win win.  Gentlemen any questions?  Hearing none. 
Residents questions? Hearing none.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
         Motion 2023-20. 
 
 
MR. MORVAY: We are going to go into Executive Session now.  Again, we will come out and we 
will not be taking any action.  I’m going to ask Mr. Neff to get us into Executive Session.  
 
MR. NEFF:  Mr. Chairman, I make a Motion to adjourn into Executive Session pursuant to ORC 
Section 121.22 (G) (1) to consider employment and compensation of a public employee.   
 
MR. NACARATO: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   5 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes.  
 
Time:  6:07 P.M. 
 
Council convened into Executive Session at 6:07 P.M. 
 
Council reconvened from Executive Session at 6:56 P.M. 
 
Mr. Dragish made a Motion to adjourn. 
 
Mr. Tieche seconded the Motion. 
 
Council adjourned at 6:57 P.M. 
 
      _____________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL          


	Agenda 10-18-23
	Ordinance Replat Lake Wobegon Drive
	Supporting Documents for Replat on Lake Wobegon
	Ordinance Replat 33 Kirk St. 
	Supporting documents for replat at 33 Kirk St.
	Ordinance Residential Office
	Ordinance Sawmill Creek Mod 2
	Modification 2 Engineering Agreement
	Ordinance Authorizing Change Order 1 Lindy Paving
	Supporting doucments for change order 1
	Motion SRO Agreement with the Board of Education
	School Resource Officer Agreement
	Minutes October 4, 2023



